Journal of Cleaner Production 171 (2018) 600-612

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Cleaner Production

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jclepro

Sustainability in higher education: A review of contributions from Portuguese Speaking Countries

Marcelo Bizerril ^{a, b, *}, Maria João Rosa ^{b, c}, Teresa Carvalho ^{b, d}, Júlio Pedrosa ^e

^a Faculdade UnB Planaltina, University of Brasilia, Planaltina, Brazil

^b Centre for Research in Higher Education Policies – CIPES, Matosinhos, Portugal

^c Department of Economics, Management and Industrial Engineering, University of Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal

^d Department of Social, Political and Territorial Sciences, University of Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal

^e CICECO, University of Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 December 2016 Received in revised form 24 July 2017 Accepted 6 October 2017 Available online 6 October 2017

Keywords: Higher education Literature review Portuguese Speaking Countries Sustainability Sustainable universities

ABSTRACT

The Portuguese-speaking countries (PSC) have a population of close to 250 million and occupy an area of about 10.7 million square kilometers across four continents. Most of these countries are rich in biodiversity and at the same time have a human development Index below the global average. This network of countries has a great potential to promote sustainability in higher education, due to cultural similarity and existing formal cooperation in other sectors. This is the first study to present a systematic review of the literature on this topic produced by PSC. Of the 50 publications selected for analysis in this paper, 36 were conducted by researchers in Brazil and 16 from Portugal, with only two partnerships occurring between authors of different PSC. The main contributions to the subject are in the areas of education, research, and assessment and reporting. Sustainability in operations and institutional frameworks were less represented in the analyzed sample, and therefore these are issues that need to be better exploited by PSC. Other contributions included strategies to reduce the gap between university and society and the political-emancipatory perspective as a pedagogical basis to support sustainability education in colleges and universities. Possibilities for future research on the topic of sustainability at universities are suggested considering the PSC context.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1	Introduction	601
1.		601
2.	Portuguese Speaking Countries	601
3.	Sustainability and universities	602
4.	Methods	603
5.	Results	604
	5.1. What PSC say about sustainability in higher education: generalist papers	. 604
	5.2. Education	. 605
	5.3. Research	. 607
	5.4. Outreach	. 607
	5.5. On-campus experiences	. 608
	5.6. Operations	. 608
	5.7. Assessment and reporting	. 608
6.	Discussion	608
7.	Conclusions	610

* Corresponding author. Faculdade UnB Planaltina, University of Brasilia, Planaltina, Brazil. *E-mail address:* bizerril@unb.br (M. Bizerril).



Review





Acknowledgements	610
References	610

1. Introduction

Any global analysis of higher education should consider the diversity of cultures, organizational forms and the different goals and missions of higher education in about 17,000 universities around the world (Rauhvargers, 2011). Thus, knowing what is being done in specific contexts can be a useful source of information and influence the improvement of approaches adopted in other contexts.

Lozano et al. (2014) highlighted the collaboration between higher education institutions as one of the key elements in promoting sustainability in universities. Indeed, knowledge on sustainability in higher education should be exchanged among universities worldwide, but especially those located in regions with serious social and environmental challenges. Without such exchanges of information, universities will not be able to meet the expectations concerning their impact on this subject. Researchers urgently need to discuss how cooperation can foster knowledge sharing already accumulated in this area and how to add to the knowledge developed in other cultural contexts, thus transitioning to more sustainable societies. In this sense, networks are essential for the success of Sustainable Universities (SU) since cooperation may be more efficient between countries that are culturally similar and have already established formal cooperation in other sectors.

The Community of Portuguese Language Countries (CPLP is the official acronym) is an intergovernmental organization of nine countries that fosters cooperation in respect to a variety of cultural, political and socio-economic aspects. This organization can create interesting spaces for knowledge sharing in several emerging topics as is the case of Sustainable Universities. With a presence on four continents, the CPLP is also well positioned to disseminate

CPLP's potential for action in the construction of the SU. The present study seeks to answer the following questions: (1) What kind of knowledge has been produced by the Portuguese Speaking Countries (PSC) about sustainability in higher education? (2) What is the contribution of this knowledge to the global discussion on the subject? In addition, the paper discusses the extent of cooperation between PSC in the production of this knowledge.

This is the first study to present a systematic review of the literature on this topic produced by these countries. Issues raised from these questions suggest that future actions can enhance the effectiveness of sustainability in higher education in order to strengthen its overall impact.

2. Portuguese Speaking Countries

The PSC have a population close to 250 million and occupy an area of about 10.7 million square kilometers across four continents. Most of these countries are rich in biodiversity (Myers et al., 2000) and at the same time have a human development Index below the global average (Table 1).

The development level of higher education among the PSC varies greatly, ranging from situations where higher education has only recently been established and percentage of the population served is still minimal (as in case of São Tomé and Principe) to cases such as Portugal, whose first universities date back over 700 years. However, in an age marked by the necessity for inclusion in the knowledge society, a general tendency among PSC is significant growth of higher education, particularly in the beginning of this century (Table 1).

The CPLP was created in 1996 by a group of seven countries: Angola, Brazil, Cape Verde, Guinea-Bissau, Mozambique, Portugal

Table 1

Characterization of the PSC, including indicators of higher education, human development and environmental quality.

Country	Population (million) ^a	Area (km ²) ^a	Carbon emission in million tonnes	Forest area (%) ^a	Number of threatened	HDI ^b	EPI ^c	Number of students in higher education ^d		
			(per capita in tonnes) ^a		species a			1999	2011	
Angola	a 20,8 1.246.		27 (1)	46,8	123	0,533	145	7.845	142.798	
Brazil	198,6	8.514.877	367 (2)	61,2	1008	0,754	46	2.456.961	6.929.624	
Cape Verde	0,49	4.033	0,35 (1)	21	47	0,648	143	706	11.769	
Guinea-Bissau	1,6	36.125	0,24 (0,2)	71,6	61	0,424	155	499	3.689	
Mozambique	25,2	801.590	3 (0,1)	49,4	230	0,418	172	10.322	113.464	
Portugal	10,6	92.212	56 (5)	37,8	249	0,843	7	356.790	383.627	
S.Tomé and Principe	0,18	964	0,1 (1)	28,1	78	0,574	154	0	766	
East Timor	1,1	14.919	0,18 (0,2)	49,2	21	0,605	138	6.349	18.553	
Equatorial-Guinea	1,0	28.051	5 (7)	57,5	131	0,414	90	-	-	

^a UNData (https://data.un.org).

^b Human Deelopment Index (http://hdr.undp.org).

^c Positionin the EPI ranking - Environmental Performance Index¹ in 2016.

^d Cerdeira (2014). We did not have access to data on higher education in Equatorial Guinea.

Portuguese thoughts about sustainability in higher education through its relationship with other networks and cooperation efforts underway in Europe (COPERNICUS Alliance, 2015), in Latin America and the Caribbean (Sáenz, 2014) and Africa (Lotz-Sisitka et al., 2007).

Identifying the state of knowledge on the issue of sustainability in higher education in these countries is the first step to mobilize

¹ The EPI is a ranking created by Yale University to measure the environmental performance of 180 countries from the following indicators: health impacts, air quality, water and sanitation, water resources, agriculture, forests, fisheries, biodiversity and habitat, climate and energy. Source: http://epi.yale.edu/epi/country-rankings.

and São Tomé and Principe. In 2002, after independence, East Timor became the eighth member of the community and, in 2014, Equatorial-Guinea became the ninth member. The CPLP also has observer countries which are Georgia, Turkey, Namibia, Senegal and Mauritius².

Over the years, the gradual strengthening of the CPLP has favored the emergence of many kinds of cooperation projects transcending governments' purview and supporting higher education institutions. Some prominent examples include: the creation of the Forum on the Governance of Higher Education in the Portuguese Language Countries and Regions (FORGES); the Association of Portuguese Speaking Universities (AULP) and various cooperative networks, such as the Network of Environmental Studies of Portuguese Language Countries (REALP) and the Lusophone Network for Environmental Education (Redeluso). Among the CPLP goals that can be related to sustainability in higher education, are:

Encourage bilateral and multilateral cooperation for the protection and preservation of the environment in the member countries with a view to promote sustainable development; Stimulate and improve the cooperation in the University sector, in training and in the various sectors of scientific and technological research to a growing appreciation of its human and natural resources, and promote and strengthen staff training policies (CPLP, 1996).

The cultural similarity and the aforementioned existing formal cooperation forums suggest that this network of countries has great potential to promote sustainability in higher education.

3. Sustainability and universities

Universities have been considering sustainability as an issue of their responsibility and a subject for management since the 1970s (Alshuwaikhat and Abubakar, 2008; González-Gaudiano et al., 2015). However, it wasn't until after the Talloires Declaration in 1990 that a large number of universities formalized their commitment to act in favor of sustainable development by signing many other treaties (Lozano et al., 2014). The leadership of European universities in the study of sustainability in higher education is well recognized (Karatzoglou, 2013; Lozano et al., 2014). Nevertheless, there are reports of experiences and contributions from many other parts of the world, such as Saudi Arabia (Alshuwaikhat and Abubakar, 2008), India (Jain et al., 2013), Mexico (Juaréz-Nájera et al., 2006), Canada (Beringer et al., 2008), the United States (Lópes, 2013), China (Lo, 2013), Russia (Verbitskaya et al., 2002). This is evidence of an emerging and diverse subject.

Despite the relative consensus that the sustainability model is based on a three-pillar approach (environmental, economic and social), sustainability is still a controversial concept as it may reflect different ways to address the relationship between humanity and the environment. Such is the case if we consider other important aspects related to the cultural and political dimensions of sustainability (Burford et al., 2013). Jimenéz (2009) considers two prevalent views on sustainability, each related to a different concept of development: a capitalist perspective of the laws of the market, which relates to the concept of sustainable development and; an alternative perspective based on the respect for ecological and cultural diversity, which emphasizes aspects of sustainable production and consumption - often referred in the literature as socioenvironmental sustainability. González-Gaudiano and Silva-Rivera (2015) highlight this dichotomy in the educational context by arguing that environmental education is a political-pedagogical practice leaning towards the critical analysis of environmental issues in order to foster responsible human development. In contrast, some propositions of Education for Sustainable Development propagate values and principles of an economic system that has generated stark social inequality and a global ecological crisis. The authors place this dispute within the wider debate on neoliberal globalization.

A similar idea is observed in the three macro trends of environmental education suggested by Loureiro and Layrargues (2013), which are defined as conservationist, pragmatic and critical. Again, the concept of sustainability would be influenced by different ways of understanding the implications of economic and political models, as well as the effects of science and technology on the environment and society. While the conservationist perspective rests on the affective dimensions of the relation between human beings and nature – as separate from its social and political dynamics – the pragmatic perspective treats the environment as a source of natural resources. It also considers that the maintenance of future generations can be ensured by the rational control of the uses of such resources, incorporating strategies for the promotion of behavioral changes and the implementation of green technologies. Lastly, the critical perspective perceives environmental impacts as consequences of social imbalances, ethical misconduct and development and society models that generate consumerism and poverty. In the words of the authors, it is necessary "not just to fight for a new culture in the relationship between humans and nature; we must fight at the same time for a new society" (Loureiro and Layrargues, 2013, p. 67).

These multiple approaches to sustainability are reflected by universities when they discuss or teach about sustainability. For example, when analyzing the level of understanding about sustainability by engineering students in different parts of Europe, Ségalas et al. (2012) identified greater attention placed towards environmental, technological and economic aspects than towards the social, ethical and political-institutional ones. This suggests that sustainability courses in engineering schools should give greater emphasis to the complexity of this subject.

Despite these contradictions, and in the context of the adjustments that organizations have been led to implement towards meeting the sustainability, universities are considered to be different both from the corporate world and from other public institutions (Celeumans et al., 2015). This is due to the unique characteristics of universities in terms of the activities they perform and their importance in society. Such a role puts them in a leadership position in terms of sustainability performance, both through the education of their students and by raising public awareness about sustainability issues (Cortese, 2003).

In the last two decades there has been a growing consensus that universities are strategic agents in the promotion of sustainability. Several aspects support this proposition, including the need to reduce the environmental impact of their activities (Alshuwaikhat and Abubakar, 2008), the fact that they are institutions that promote innovation (Lozano, 2006a), their role on the education of leaders, teachers and distinct professionals who influence society (Cortese, 2003), and their impact on regional sustainable development (Karatzoglou, 2013). In the literature on sustainability in higher education, there tends to be an agreement with Cortese's proposition (2003) that defines the university as a fourdimensional system: education, research, campus operations and outreach. According to Lozano (2006b), the assessment and reporting procedures related to these four dimensions is considered a fifth dimension, which is strategic for the incorporation of sustainability into the university's management practices. Lozano et al. (2014) proposed two further aspects of institutional framework and on-campus experiences, totaling seven dimensions to be

² Distribution of member countries on the world map is available in the following link http://www.cplp.org/Files/Billeder/cplp/bandeiras/Mapa_CPLP.jpg.



Fig. 1. University System used for the analysis of sustainability performance (adapted from Lozano et al., 2014).

considered when analyzing the sustainability performance of universities.

In Fig. 1 we present a synthesis of these dimensions. The following descriptions provide greater detail. The dimension of education includes propositions concerning the presence of topics in sustainability within the curriculum, development of skills and teacher training programs. This dimension relates not only to the theme of sustainable universities but to a much larger scope of knowledge that includes the central role that education plays in the science of sustainability (Barth and Michelsen, 2013) and for the promotion of sustainable development (Læssøe, 2010). This topic includes studies conducted in both formal and non-formal education settings, including key competencies for sustainable development as well as the process of competence acquisition (Barth et al., 2007). For this reason, education tends to be the dimension with the greatest production of knowledge available in the literature, but it must be carefully analyzed to avoid reductionism when included in higher education.

The dimension research relates to the existence of structures and financial support for the production of knowledge and technology on sustainability through processes of complex and transdisciplinary thinking. Campus operations deals with the presence of sustainability in the daily operation of the university, including resource use efficiency and the management of water, energy, waste and green-house gases, transport and accessibility, as well as the access to food of good quality. Outreach refers to actions related to the integration of the university with society, which includes other universities, governments, businesses, schools, civil society organizations and the local community. The on-campus experiences of sustainability, namely the existence of working groups and other sustainable practices among students, faculty and staff, are indicators of the everyday presence of sustainability concerns within the academic community. The dimension institutional framework is seen as an indicator of the institution's commitment to sustainability as it strengthens its presence in policies, missions and other official institutional documents. Finally, Assessment and reporting on university sustainability performance implies the deployment of some environmental management systems, among several that may be available, as well as the internal and external dissemination of the results of this monitoring. In recent years this topic has occupied a prominent place in research on sustainability in higher education. This includes discussions on the different types of environmental management systems initially adopted by universities, such as ISO 14001 and EMAS (European Union Eco-Management and Audit Scheme), to proposals developed specifically for the case of sustainability in universities, such as AISHE (Auditing Instrument for Sustainability in Higher Education), STARS

(Sustainability Tracking, Assessment & Rating, System) and GASU (Graphical Assessment of Sustainability in universities), which incorporate the complexity of a university's dimensions and missions, especially with regards to education (Lozano, 2006b, 2011). These articles often corroborate the findings of the limited number of universities that carry out reports as well as their low quality (Celeumans et al., 2015).

Several studies have analyzed the transition processes of higher education institutions to Sustainable Universities. They even offer various aspects that favor and others that hinder this process that necessarily proposes profound changes in the way the university operates. Among the factors that tend to hamper the implementation and institutionalization of sustainability in universities, there is personal resistance to change and innovation (Lozano, 2006a), institutional and systemic barriers to change (i.e. disciplinary structures and economic forces, Clugston and Calder, 1999), limited perceptions of the concept of sustainability by managers (Wright and Horst, 2013), and the focus on behavioural modification neglecting the democratic and participatory empowerment (Læssøe, 2010). But, at the same time, there are also factors that potentially promote the implementation of sustainability in universities, such as: the formalization of an institution's commitment to sustainability (Lozano et al., 2014); the commitment of managers with the theme, credibility and personality of the "champions" of sustainability initiatives from the institution (Clugston and Calder, 1999); the establishment of a consistent way of assessing and reporting on sustainability institutional performance (Lozano, 2011; Celeumans et al., 2015); the involvement of teachers and especially staff (Brinkhurst et al., 2011): the establishment of an environmental sustainability culture on campus from the dissemination of knowledge about the processes and incentives for involvement (Levy and Marans, 2012); and the integration of sustainability into the curriculum from a critical and complex perspective (Segalàs et al., 2012).

4. Methods

In order to answer the questions presented in section 1, this study presents a systematic literature review on the topic of sustainability in higher education produced by PSC. Webster and Watson (2002) argue that literature reviews promote theoretical developments by pointing out directions for future research. The study also includes a summary of the main foci of the studies conducted by the PSC with respect to the different dimensions of sustainability in higher education. It is followed by a discussion on the points of convergence and the contributions of those countries to the international literature on the topic. The potential and needs for fostering further development of this area in the PSC are also discussed.

The selection of publications on the topic of sustainability in higher education in PSC was carried out through a search for the keywords "sustainability" and "higher education" or "university", or "sustainable university" and its Portuguese equivalents³ in the publications' titles and abstracts. The search was done in the da-tabases Scopus (www.scopus.com), Ebsco (www.ebscohost.com) and Scielo (www.scielo.org). The choice of these databases was due to their well-known impact both worldwide and within the context of the studied countries.

We considered papers in journals and conference proceedings that were produced in all years up until December 2015 in the Social Sciences and Humanities. These are the areas that include

³ The exact Portuguese keywords used in the search were "sustentabilidade", "ensino superior", "universidade", "universidade sustentável".

Table 2

Selected articles from the search with the keywords "sustainability" and "higher education" or "university", or "sustainable universities" and their equivalents in Portuguese, in each database queried. The numbers in parentheses represent the number of articles written in Portuguese.

Database	Total number of articles	Number of articles authored by PSC	Number of articles selected for analysis
SCOPUS	1228 (10)	49 (10)	33 (3)
EBSCO	2172 (79)	86 (79)	19 (10)
SCIELO	23 (16)	16 (16)	9 (9)

works related to governance of higher education, while other subject areas such as Natural Sciences include other perspectives on sustainability not related to the purpose of this research. Even restricting the search to social sciences, the first search resulted in a very large number of articles. To narrow it further, the search results were limited to only authors from PSC. From the list of publications, we analyzed the abstracts and, if necessary, the complete texts, excluding the studies whose focus was not aligned with sustainability issues within higher education institutions (Table 2). For example, we did not include research on sustainability from a variety of contexts that do not refer to the role of the university in promoting it. After eliminating papers that appeared in more than one database, we reached a total of 50 items for this analysis.

For each study, we identified the methodology applied, the authors' countries of origin and the scope of the study in terms of the countries considered in the research. The articles were read and classified according to a concept-centric approach, as suggested by Webster and Watson (2002). The concepts used for the analysis on sustainability in high education were the seven dimensions proposed by Lozano et al. (2014): education, research, outreach, campus operations, assessment and reporting, on-campus experiences and institutional framework.

In some discourses on the sustainability in higher education, these several dimensions tend to be cited with varying degrees of intensity. However, in this classification, we picked the one dimension (in some cases more than one) that was the main focus of the paper. In cases where the paper broadly discusses sustainability in higher education without a clear focus on a specific dimension, we classified it in the "generalist papers" category.

The main findings and approaches presented in the articles from PSC were systematized and described in the results section for each of the dimensions cited above. In each category, an emphasis was given to major trends in the study sets. In the discussion section, the articles' topics were confronted by the way in which the issue has been addressed in recent literature. This highlights the strengths and the weaknesses of the studies in such countries.

5. Results

Data gathered from the Scopus database using the search terms described in the methods section produced a sample of 1228 papers, authored by researches from 90 different countries. Among them, the USA, UK, Australia, Canada and Germany revealed the highest number of publications. Brazil was in 13th place, the 23rd was Portugal, and Mozambique was the 84th. No publication from any other country from the CPLP was found in this search. Articles authored by the PSC available in the Scopus database are mainly written in English, while in Scielo and Ebsco the tendency was to find papers in Portuguese, except for a few in Spanish and in English.

Of the 50 publications selected for analysis in this article, 36 were written by Brazilians and 16 by Portuguese. Thirteen of them



Fig. 2. Distribution of the 50 analyzed publications over the years.

(26%) were authored by researchers from more than one country, but only two were jointly produced by Brazilian and Portuguese authors. Co-authors were from Australia, Canada, Denmark, Germany, the United States, Spain, France and the United Kingdom. Publications on the selected topic started in 2004, with a significant increase in 2013 (Fig. 2).

Even with the possibility of carrying out studies with a more global approach, most articles were related to local contexts within PSC, with 27 studies focusing on the Brazilian case, seven on the Portuguese case, while only two included both Brazil and Portugal. In the set of researches not restricted to the PSC case, one study examined cases in Portugal and Australia, one in Spain, one in India, one in four countries (Portugal, Brazil, UK and Germany), one in the context of Europe, one in Latin America, while three adopted a more global approach involving several countries in different continents. In six cases of theoretical articles or framework proposals, specific geographic contexts were not identified.

The publications were obtained from 30 different journals, with the majority of studies appearing in the *Journal of Cleaner Production* (n = 9), followed by the *International Journal of Sustainability on Higher Education* (n = 6), the *Revista de Administração Mackenzie* (n = 4), and the *Revista Monografias Ambientais* (n = 3).

The methodological approach adopted in the papers include both theoretical articles (n = 9) and empirical research (n = 41), namely case studies, document analysis, surveys, framework proposals and action-research.

In terms of the distribution of publications among the different dimensions of sustainability in Higher Education Institutions (HEIs), there was a predominance of papers focused on education and assessment and reporting (Fig. 3). No publication was classified under the dimension of Institutional Framework. Twelve publications (24%) were classified under more than one dimension (Table 3).

5.1. What PSC say about sustainability in higher education: generalist papers

Eight articles were classified under this category. They are mostly theoretical essays defending the idea that the university should take up sustainability as a mission and analyze international situations (Conceição et al., 2006; Jabbour, 2010; Lara, 2012; Guerra and Figueiredo, 2014) and national examples (Silva and Marcomin, 2007; Soares et al., 2008).

Part of these texts have an exploratory approach or present nonsystematic reviews, and were published in the early years of academic production on the topic, as we have previously noted in this review. It is worth mentioning that important themes emerged



Fig. 3. Distribution of publications among the different dimensions of sustainability in HEIs.

from these texts that are rarely discussed in the literature on sustainability in higher education, such as university networks for sustainability, participation in higher education governance (Disterheft et al., 2015a) and the relationship between sustainability and violence (Zottis et al., 2008).

Guerra and Figueiredo (2014) emphasized that the movement for including environmental dimensions in higher education has existed in Latin America since 1950. They present the experiences and the history of networks in Brazil and in Latin America, such as REASul (South Brazil Network of Environmental Education) and ARIUSA (Alliance of Iberoamerican Network for Sustainability and Environment). The authors highlighted the role of environmental education in the emancipation of individuals and in social transformation as presented in the Treaty of Environmental Education for Sustainable Societies and Global Responsibility, produced under the Rio-92 Conference, as well as the concept of "sustainable educational spaces". The latter of which are spaces with the educational goal of promoting social and environmental sustainability. They also highlight editions of the Seminar of Sustainability in Universities, pointing out that books produced from these meetings⁴ may represent the state of the art of the knowledge on this issue in the Ibero-Latin American context.

Disterheft et al. (2015a) listened to a group of experts from all over the world in their analysis of the critical aspects necessary for the inclusion of sustainability on university campuses - in terms of participatory approaches - thus recognizing that the culture of participation is conducive to the transition to sustainable universities. Zottis et al. (2008) argue that sustainable development cannot be discussed only in terms of the relationship that human beings maintain with natural resources, but mainly in terms of the relationship that humans have with their own species. From this perspective, sustainability should also be related to ethical principles, solidarity and respect for human rights, and would encompass the reduction of social inequalities, as well as of corruption and violence. These authors emphasized the need to factor in the current reality of violence, corruption, poverty and illiteracy when discussing sustainability in developing countries.

5.2. Education

Education was the category with greater number of studies,

with 22 (49%) articles. The majority of them (n = 16) relate, with varying degrees, to the idea of greening higher education curriculum. The other studies addressed the perception of students from different majors about the aspects of sustainability, in addition to specific aspects of the pedagogical practice applied to the teaching of sustainability.

Conceição et al. (2006) and Guerra and Figueiredo (2014) discussed topics such as the values of justice, freedom and dignity that should be considered in green curricula and bring sustainability closer to the field of ethics and morality than to that of economic development. The authors recommended that such issues must be addressed through an interdisciplinary approach and through learning based on experience.

Correia et al. (2010) also advocated from the perspective of an education for sustainability which provides the balance between the ideas of sustainable economic growth and sustainable human development. They see scientific literacy as a chance for promoting this discussion in a broad way in higher education.

Most authors tended to analyze the greening of curricula from the point of view of specific courses, especially management and business (Jacobi et al., 2011; Palma et al., 2011, 2013; Jabbour et al., 2013; Gonçalves-Dias et al., 2013; Silva et al., 2013; Sinay et al., 2013) but also in other courses such as engineering (Almeida et al., 2013; Caetano et al., 2013), tourism (Neiman and Martins, 2009), energy and sustainability (Batterman et al., 2011), sustainability (Bursztyn and Drummond, 2014) and chemistry (Zuin and Pacca, 2013). Ramos et al. (2015) explored the occurrence of the Strategic Environmental Assessment theme (SEA) within multiple courses in Brazil and Portugal. They revealed the still limited presence of the subject, even though there are signs of growth in this field of study.

The understanding of sustainability by students was analyzed both in specific areas such as health (Backes et al., 2011), and in the context of a diverse set of courses (Lanero et al., 2013; Cunha et al., 2013). The findings indicate a limited understanding of students on the concept of sustainability and the important role the university plays in strengthening society so that it will effectively come to regard sustainability as a fundamental aspect of its proper functioning.

Among the educational experiences discussed, Isaias and Issa (2013) evaluated the use of learning management systems (LMS) and e-mail as a way to increase interest in sustainability. Correia et al. (2010) showed the use of collaborative concept maps to promote sustainability thinking in mixed groups of students from different courses, while De Goes et al. (2013) identified that teachers in green chemistry tend to approach the chemical content of their courses from a socio-scientific perspective while teachers from other areas of chemistry tend to adopt the traditional and contextual perspectives.

The articles analyzed in this category – especially those advocating for the greening of the curriculum – are in accordance with the defence that, in addition to deciding what should be taught, it is essential to discuss how it should be taught. A common feature of these articles is their advocacy for the replacement of traditional teaching practices, transitioning from a system centered on information transmission by the teacher to one whereby educational practices are more contextualized, incorporating problem-solving, participation, dialog, and which are more student-oriented. The authors suggested approaches that bring science closer to the socio-environmental context such as scientific literacy and the Science-Technology-Society-Environment (STSE) approach.

The application of such teaching practices is expected to lead to the development of essential skills for sustainable societies. Some examples of these skills include: critical thinking, complex perspectives, openness to interdisciplinary approaches, innovation,

⁴ The books are: Visions and experiences of sustainability in Latin American Universities (Leme et al., 2012) and Greening in Brazilian institutions of higher education: paths, challenges and possibilities (Ruscheinsky et al., 2014).

Table 3Characteristics of analyzed articles.

Year	Country of authorship	Partner countries	Geographical focus of the	Authors	Journals	Methodological Approach	Dii at	men the	sion univ	of susta ersity ^a	ainabi	lity	
			study				G	E	R	A&R	CO	0	OCE
2004	Portugal	-	Portugal	Gonçalves & Gomes	Conferência Nacional de Ambiente	case study				x			
2005 2006	Brazil Portugal	France USA	Brazil None	Zanoni et al. Conceição et al.	Natures Sciences Societes International Journal of Technology, Policy and Management	case study conceptual/theoretical	x	x	х				
2006	Portugal	-	Portugal	Ferreira et al.	Journal of Cleaner Production	case study				x			x
2006 2007	Brazil Brazil	_	Diverse Brazil	Tauchen & Brandli Silva & Marcomin	Gestão & Produção Congreso Internacional de Educación Ambiental dos Países Lusófonos e Galícia,	framework proposal conceptual/theoretical	x			x			
2008	Brazil	_	Brazil	Soares et al.	Congreso Internacional de Educación Ambiental dos Países Lusófonos e Galícia	conceptual/theoretical	x						
2008	Brazil	-	None	Zottis et al.	Saúde e Sociedade	conceptual/theoretical	х					х	
2009 2010	Brazil Brazil	_	Brazil None	Neiman & Martins Jabbour	Caderno Virtual de Turismo International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education	documental analysis framework proposal	x	х		x			
2010	Brazil	_	Brazil	Correia et al.	Journal of Cleaner Production	framework proposal		х					
2011	Brazil	Canada	Brazil	Jacobi et al.	RAM, Revista de Administração Mackenzie	conceptual/theoretical		х					
2011 2011	Portugal Portugal	_ USA	Portugal Portugal	Madeira et al. Batterman et al.	High Education Policy Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice	framework proposal framework proposal		x		х			
2011	Brazil	-	Brazil	Palma et al.	International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education	documental analysis		x					
2011	Brazil	-	Brazil	Backes et al.	Revista Brasileira de Enfermagem	case study		х					
2012	Brazil	_	None	Lara	Revista Monografias Ambientais	conceptual/theoretical	х						
2012	Brazil	-	Brazil	Brandli et al.	Avaliação	case study				х			
2012	Brazil	_	Brazil	Freitas et al.	Espacios	case study					х	х	
2012	DIdZII	_	DIdZII	Lobiei et al.	Management and Innovation	case study					x		
2012	Portugal	-	Europe	Disterheft et al.	Journal of Cleaner Production	survey				х			
2012	Brazil	-	Brazil	Almeida Netto et al.	Revista Monografias Ambientais	action-research						х	
2012	Brazil	_	Brazil	Almeida Netto et al.	Revista Monografias Ambientais Ensoñanza do las Cioncias	action-research		v				х	
2013	Brazil	_	India	De Castro & Jabbour	Inscrimize of Cleaner	case study		х		x			
2013	Brazil	USA	Brazil	Almeida et al.	Production Journal of Cleaner	case study		x		x			
2013	Brazil	USA,	Brazil	Jabbour et al.	Production Journal of Cleaner	case study		x	x		x	x	
2013	Brazil	Denmark —	Brazil	Gonçalves-Dias et al.	Production RAM, Revista de Administração Mackonsio	case study		x					
2013	Brazil	_	Brazil	Palma et al.	RAM, Revista de Administração Mackenzie	case study		x					
2013	Brazil	-	Brazil	da Silva et al.	Revista de Ciências da Administração	case study		x					
2013	Brazil	-	Brazil	da Cunha et al.	Revista Eletrônica de Ciência Administrativa	case study		х				х	
2013	Portugal	_	Portugal	Caetano et al	International Conference of the Portuguese Society for Engineering Education	framework proposal		х	х	x			
2013	Brazil	-	Brazil	Sinay et al.	RAM, Revista de Administração Mackenzie	documental analysis		х	х				
2013	Brazil	-	Brazil	Souza et al.	REAd. Revista Eletrônica de Administração	documental analysis			х				
2013	Brazil	_	Brazil	De Goes et al.	Educacíon Química	case study		х					
2013	Portugal	Australia	Portugal, Australia	Isaias & Issa	International Journal of Learning in Higher Education	case study		х					

Year	Country of authorship	Partner countries	Geographical focus of the	Authors	Journals	Methodological Approach	Dimension of sustainal at the university ^a		ustainability Y ^a				
			study				G	E	R	A&R	CO	0	OCE
2013	Portugal	Spain	Spain,	Lanero et al.	International Journal of Sustainability Education	survey		х					
2014	Brazil	_	Latin America	Guerra & Figueiredo	Educar em Revista	conceptual/theoretical	х	х					
2014	Brazil	_	Brazil	Bursztyn & Drummond	Environmental Education Research	conceptual/theoretical		x	х				
2014	Brazil	_	Brazil	Pereira et al.	International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education	case study				x			
2014	Brazil	_	Brazil	Marinho et al.	Journal of Cleaner Production	case study			х		х	x	х
2014	Brazil	_	Brazil	Machado Jr et al.	Gestão e Regionalidade	documental analysis			х				
2015a	Portugal	United Kingdom	Diverse	Disterheft et al.	Journal of Cleaner Production	empirical	х						х
2015	Portugal	_	None	Amaral et al.	International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education	conceptual/theoretical				х			
2015	Portugal	Brazil	Brazil, Portugal	Ramos et al.	Journal of Cleaner Production	documental analysis		х					
2015	Portugal	-	Portugal	Soares et al.	International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education	case study					х		
2015	Portugal	-	Portugal	Amador et al.	Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education	framework proposal				х			
2015	Brazil	_	None	Palma & Pedrozo	Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education	framework proposal				х			
2015b	Portugal	UK	Diverse	Disterheft et al.	International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education	framework proposal				x			
2016	Portugal	Brazil, UK, Germany	Portugal, UK, Germany, Brazil	Shiel et al.	Evaluation and Program Planning	empirical						x	

^a General (G), Education (E), Research (R), Assessment and Reporting (A&R), Campus Operations (CO), Community Outreach (O), On-campus Experiences (OCE).

cooperation and teamwork, the ability to adapt technologies and methodologies to different contexts, to make and implement decisions, as well as communicate and promote the interaction between institutions and people.

5.3. Research

Eight studies make up the research category, four of which specifically address research on sustainability, while the others discuss the topic of research from any of the other sustainability dimensions.

Machado-Junior et al. (2014) and Souza et al. (2013) developed bibliometric studies of business administration theses and dissertations in the field of sustainability from Brazil and identified an increase in scientific production in the area during recent years. However, it is concentrated in certain regions of the country and from a few institutions, so that regions with serious social and environmental problems have very limited production.

Sinay et al. (2013) analyzed the current situation of Business management courses in Brazil with regard to environmental management. The authors concluded that the national academic output on the theme of environmental management is still incipient, albeit growing. Of the total number of articles published from 2006 to 2012 in the six main national journals in the area of administration, the authors found that only 6.2% dealt with environmental management issues.

Three studies discussed the relationship between research and environmental management of HEIs. Marinho et al. (2014) and Caetano et al. (2013) analyzed cases where the implementation of sustainability practices in the institutions fostered scientific production in the area, while Jabbour et al. (2013) presented cases where the environmental management processes of institutions was initiated by research activities and teaching faculty.

Finally, two studies analyzed experiences of interdisciplinary' research programs on sustainability. Zanoni et al. (2005) presented the history and structure of a doctoral program in environment and development in a Brazilian university. Bursztyn and Drummond (2014) discussed the difficulties and possibilities for the development of interdisciplinary work in universities, based on the situation of sustainability science graduate programs in Brazil. These authors considered that environmental problems are complex and must be analyzed through an interdisciplinary approach, but concede that the structure and the history of universities generate strong resistance to this kind of work, both in research and teaching. They pointed out the "pathologies" that affect and hinder the establishment of interdisciplinary programs of teaching and research, and also discussed the effects of disciplinary fragmentation in causing segregation and complicating the relationship between university and society. As a contribution to the debate, an institutional model was presented to foster interdisciplinary knowledge and the universities are invited to learn with the interdisciplinary research experience of non-academic research institutions (NARIs).

5.4. Outreach

The outreach actions with local communities are exemplified in four articles. The first concerned the transdisciplinary care of victims of violence (Zottis et al., 2008). Partnership projects between universities and rural schools modeled on the basis of popular education developed by Paulo Freire and social technology were the subject of two articles (Almeida Netto et al., 2012a, 2012b). Those articles argued that the teaching and learning process of popular education is an act of social transformation, where the community's knowledge is the raw material for teaching. Critical thinking and creativity were central in order to develop their autonomy. In the fourth paper, Shiel et al. (2016) studied universities in UK, Germany, Portugal and Brazil to analyze their externallyoriented activities aimed at building capacity within local communities to promote sustainable development. The authors considered that Portugal has lagged behind other EU countries in relation to sustainable development and that there is a lack of institutional approaches to sustainability in Brazilian universities (Shiel et al., 2016).

5.5. On-campus experiences

The on-campus sustainability experiences are considered in six articles. They are presented both in the form of specific initiatives (as in the case of promoting the replacement of disposable cups for mugs, Freitas et al., 2012), as well as through activities resulting from the integration of teaching and research (as in the case of the management schools studied by Jabbour et al., 2013).

A case of on-campus experiences that also had repercussions in society is a water resources management project on a college campus. The project promoted cost-cutting, student involvement and partnerships with other public institutions for water management over a period of nine years (Marinho et al., 2014).

In addition to the studies mentioned above, the arguments presented by Ferreira et al. (2006), Cunha et al. (2013) and Disterheft et al. (2015a) reinforce the potential of both outreach activities and the students' hands-on experience in teaching professionals committed to sustainability and educating citizens capable of participating and intervening in society.

5.6. Operations

Five articles addressed environmental management practices in on-campus operations. Of these, two criticized inefficient strategies for water management (Freitas et al., 2012) and electronic waste (Löbler et al., 2012). Two others presented the outcomes of research and teaching activities promoted by groups of teachers for the sustainable management of campuses as possible examples of bottom-up processes of environmental management in universities (Jabbour et al., 2013; Marinho et al., 2014). Lastly, Soares et al. (2015) proposed an energy efficiency plan for a higher education building in Portugal.

5.7. Assessment and reporting

Fifteen total articles dealt with the implementation of environmental management systems in higher education institutions. Among them, the articles that discussed the issue in a more comprehensive way were written by Portuguese researchers. Amaral et al. (2015) presented a review of the main procedures that have been used to implement, assess and report on sustainability in universities. Disterheft et al. (2012) analyzed European universities that have an environmental management system (EMS) and identified the types of systems adopted and the EMS implementation process and practices, taking into account different levels of participation. One idea put forth is that the participatory approach is more comprehensive than the top-down one because it not only aims to improve the environmental performance of the institution, but also to better incorporate sustainability at all university activity levels, particularly in the education of students so as to address the issue with the participation of society.

Two studies assessed the sustainability performance of certain universities according to pre-existing models and instruments such as the one proposed by Alshuwaikhat and Abubakar (2008), used by Castro and Jabbour (2013) to evaluate a university in India, and AISHE used by Brandli et al. (2012) to evaluate a Brazilian university.

Pereira et al. (2014) explored the concept of 'Environmental Organizational Culture' proposed by Harris and Crane (2002) to investigate the barriers that need to be overcome for a paradigm shift and the implementation of a culture of sustainability in one of the largest Brazilian public universities.

The other articles in this category proposed models for management or assessment (or both) of sustainability in HEIs through several approaches, such as: the Sustainability Action Plan (PASUS) (Caetano et al., 2013); the Sustainability in Higher Education Institutions (SusHEI) (Madeira et al., 2011); the application of the concept of Emergy Synthesis in the higher education context (Almeida et al., 2013); a model for analysis of environmental management in business schools (Jabbour, 2010); a model for environmental management in HEIs (Tauchen and Brandli, 2006); and the model of the Agrarian School of the Polytechnic Institute of Bragança (EcoESAB), a pioneering institution in Portugal (Gonçalves and Gomes, 2004).

Three recent studies dealt with the inclusion of educational aspects in the sustainability assessment criteria. Palma and Pedrozo (2015) proposed a complex matrix for the analysis of sustainable transformative learning (CMASTL), a model that integrates the management and teaching—learning processes to make the changes for sustainability in educational institutions. Amador et al. (2015) developed a set of assessment criteria for education for sustainable development in higher education curricula in line with Habermas' theory of knowledge-constitutive interests. Lastly, Disterheft et al. (2015b) developed assessment criteria for participatory processes in sustainable universities. These criteria are linked to learning theories, especially for transformative and social learning, and the authors considered that these aspects should be applied to all members of the academic community and the university itself as an institution in transformation.

6. Discussion

The criteria and keywords adopted for selecting the set of articles in this review may have occasionally excluded some publications. For example, the inclusion of 'curriculum greening' and 'environmental education' among the key search words probably would have expanded significantly the number of articles related to some dimensions of sustainability in the university system, namely education, outreach and on-campus experiences. The choice of databases may also have favored the access to the outputs of some particular countries, while reducing the chances of access to others. The selection also did not include articles from scholars who come from a PSC but work at a university in a non-PSC. Nevertheless, we consider that the selected texts are qualitatively representative of the production of PSC on the topic and serve as an illustration of the main contributions of this group of countries to the international debate.

It can be considered that the PSC, namely Portugal and Brazil, are well represented in the international debate on sustainability in universities, when considering the modes of publication and approaches that are consistent with the international literature. Part of the articles published in English has obtained significant number of citations. This is despite the fact that the contributions are rather modest in terms of the number of published articles and the authors represent a small proportion of the total number of existing higher education institutions in these countries, especially in Brazil. The fact that only studies by Brazilian and Portuguese authors have been selected does not mean that the other countries of CPLP do not consider the importance of sustainability (see Varela, 2013; Novais and Sanchéz, 2013). Nevertheless, it indicates that their academic production on the subject should be increased and need to be more widely disseminated. In other reviews on the subject, such as Karatzoglou (2013), no publication from Africa was found in leading international journals.

With the exception of institutional framework, academic production is represented in all dimensions of performance of universities considered in other reviews (as Karatzoglou, 2013; Celeumans et al., 2015). And, the main contributions of the PSC on the subject are in the dimensions of education, research and assessment and reporting. The frequency observed for outreach and on-campus experience reports should be analyzed carefully because these subjects tend to be better represented in publications such as books, full papers at conferences and specific journals dedicated to this matter and not indexed in the databases consulted. Indeed, many Brazilian universities edit their own Extension Journals⁵, which are not included in the international indexers. The weaknesses of the sample analyzed for PSC were operations and institutional framework, and therefore, those issues that need to be better exploited by the PSC. In fact, Brandli et al. (2015) considered that sustainability actions in Brazilian universities are mostly resulting from isolated projects, and low academic production on these two issues may explain the fact that the implementation of sustainability in the university routines of these countries does not seem to be sufficiently satisfactory or comparable with other European universities (Leal Filho, 2010).

In summary, the pattern found for PSC differs from that observed in the reviews presented by Lozano et al. (2014) and Wals (2014), except that education is the most discussed topic. In these reviews, most of the work concerned the education and operations, followed by assessment and reporting, outreach, institutional framework, and with research and on-campus experiences as the less treated themes.

In detail, the main contributions of the PSCs in education and research are: (a) a proposition of strategies to integrate sustainability into the curriculum and institutions; (b) a discussion about possible pathways for promoting interdisciplinary approaches in HE; (c) raising the importance of adopting a critical and complex worldview, and of promoting dialogue between science and traditional knowledge, especially addressing the pedagogical assumptions of critical environmental education. In the assessment and reporting, the focus is on the suggestions for processes, models and integration of sustainability tools in universities, including the analysis of barriers to intended changes and ways to overcoming them.

Although underrepresented in the sample of surveyed articles, there are two potential contributions of PSC in the context of Sustainable Universities. The first is the link between HEIs and society based on the tradition of extension as one of the HEIs missions, especially the Brazilian ones (Nogueira, 2013). Secondly, the literature from PSC can provide successful experiences of technology transfer between universities and the private sector, especially in the Portuguese case (Marques et al., 2010). Another contribution that finds support in the work of Portuguese-speaking authors is the defense of democratic management and participation in decision-making as processes that promote emancipation of community members (Freire, 1987), which also includes school (Lima,

2005; Trajber and Sato, 2010) and university governance (Santos and Almeida-Filho, 2008). Democracy is one of the main demands that Santos (2015) lists for universities in the 21st century. This demand also includes social responsibility and the production of transdisciplinary and contextual knowledge, from dialogue with other non-scientific knowledge.

As noted by Lozano (2011) in reference to various authors. developed countries tend to value the environmental aspects of sustainability more than the social ones, a fact that has been justified by a supposedly greater ease of measuring, evaluating and analyzing environmental variables. Ségalas et al. (2012) showed that despite the fact that "experts" (teachers and researchers on education for sustainable development) had considered the institutional and social aspects as being the most relevant for sustainability, a sample of 500 European engineering students gave more importance to the technological and environmental aspects, suggesting that the courses should give more emphasis to the complexity of sustainability and revise their teaching strategies. Nevertheless, it is common to find higher education references to traditionalism and the rigidity of HEIs in the literature, as well as a strong resistance to change (Lozano, 2006a; Ćulum, 2014). The predominance of Cartesian and Newtonian thought models relegate the teaching and learning processes to mechanical actions that do not promote the necessary skills for achieving sustainability (Lotz-Sisitka et al., 2007; Barth and Michelsen, 2013). That is why the foundations of Latin American environmental education (Lima, 2009; Sorrentino, 2014), mentioned by some of the articles analyzed, can contribute positively to pedagogical changes in universities. Such is the case, for example, with the popular education and the critical-liberating pedagogy of Paulo Freire (1987, 2004). This theoretical framework considers education as an inherently political action and holds a critical perspective with regard to development models (Loureiro and Layrargues, 2013; González-Gaudiano and Silva-Rivera, 2015). There is also a connection to Portuguese authors who proposed that participation must be employed as a method of promoting sustainability in universities (Disterheft et al., 2015a, 2015b) and democracy as a way of overcoming the individualistic and competitive culture that prevails in higher education (Lima, 2005, 2012). These issues are strongly related to sustainability in higher education and converge with reflections proposed by other authors (c.f. Barth et al., 2007; Læssøe, 2010; Barth and Michelsen, 2013), who discuss education for sustainability on similar principles, although from other theoretical frameworks.

Some analyzed articles highlighted other issues that are poorly treated in the literature on sustainability in higher education but which are not necessarily specific to developing countries, such as violence and interculturalism. The ideas defended by Zottis et al. (2008) agree with the perspective of the University of Costa Rica presented by Segreda (2002), which integrates peace as a substantial component of sustainability. This point of view also supports the discourse of UNESCO (1999) that argues the goal should not be solely that of sustainable development, but of a sustainable society. Such society is characterized by a culture of peace, and is based on values, attitudes, behaviors and experiences that reinforce non-violence and respect for freedom and the fundamental rights of individuals. Burford et al. (2013) stressed the importance of the cultural and political dimensions of sustainability, an approach that is strategic for PSC. This is because PSC experience cultural differences among themselves and internally within each country, despite the fact that they have the same official language. For example, Brazil has a large indigenous population that still faces significant barriers to access the universities (Brostolin and Cruz, 2010). At the same time, the PSC countries in Africa and East Timor deal with linguistic and cultural diversity (Godinho et al.,

⁵ A specialized journal that publishes articles dealing with projects or outreach actions of Brazilian universities.

2013). Portuguese universities have experienced increased diversification of nationalities of students, most of whom come from the PSC (Cerdeira, 2014). This fact favors the practice of cross-cultural dialogue on campuses and brings up the challenge of discussing sustainability at both local and global levels. Recently, the University of International Integration of Afro-Brazilian Lusophony (www. unilab.edu.br) was created in Brazil. This university can play a strategic role in this debate. However, when the subject is sustainability in higher education, this PSC network is being underused. Apparently Brazil is interacting more with Latin America and Europe, Portugal is restricted to the European space, and there was no evidence of articulation between the other Portuguese-speaking countries in this topic.

7. Conclusions

The PSC have produced articles on sustainability in higher education since 2004. This shows a significant increase in recent years, and a production pattern similar to that presented in other reviews. An important difference found in relation to the overall pattern was the small number of articles focused on the operations dimension.

The PSC, and in particular Brazil and Portugal, have made significant contributions to the international debate on sustainability in higher education, especially in the dimensions of education, research and assessment and reporting. They also have remarkable experiences of rapprochement strategies between the university and society in the context of sustainability which, however, still needs further international dissemination. The experiences arising from the practice of democracy and the emancipatory perspective of critical environmental education can also contribute greatly to the pedagogical basis to support further education for sustainability and outreach actions in higher education.

However, it is surprising that there are very few partnerships among the authors from distinct PSC in the analyzed articles. This is despite the fact that the CPLP may be considered an important arena for cooperation and actions by some formal integration forums related to sustainability (REALP, Redeluso) and higher education (FORGES, AULP). Nevertheless, the subject deserves better attention and coordination if it is to grow properly and produce genuinely intercultural discussions.

This review indicates the possibility of future research on sustainability in universities from the reality of the PSC in at least two pathways: (1) to use this network of universities to conduct intercultural studies that produce new evidence and insights into the obstacles to the institutionalization of sustainability in HE and into ways of overcoming them; (2) to develop and study sustainability institutionalization processes in different socio-cultural contexts based on the research cooperation between these countries. A strategic action is to strengthen the discussion of the topic sustainability in higher education in existing forums mentioned above.

Acknowledgements

We thank the support of the University of Brasília, University of Aveiro and Center for Research in Higher Education Policies (CIPES) for the development of this postdoctoral research of the first author. We also thank the contributions of the anonymous reviewers for the final version of the article. Norio Takaki and Ryan Nehring revised the english version.

References

Almeida Netto, T., da Silva, M.M., de Azevedo, L.F., Hillig, C., 2012a. Educação ambiental e cidadania: experiência projeto arquitetos do saber. Rev. Monogr. Ambient. 5 (5), 992–999.

- Almeida Netto, T., Hillig, C., de Vargas, D.L., 2012b. Extensão e prática social: experiência com oficinas de sustentabilidade em escola rural. Rev. Monogr. Ambient. 10 (10), 2252–2259.
- Almeida, C.M.V.B., Santos, A.P.Z., Bonilla, S.H., Giannetti, B.F., Huisingh, D., 2013. The roles, perspectives and limitations of environmental accounting in higher educational institutions: an emergy synthesis study of the engineering programme at the Paulista University in Brazil. J. Clean. Prod. 52, 380–391.
- Alshuwaikhat, H.M., Abubakar, I., 2008. An integrated approach to achieving campus sustainability: assessment of the current campus environmental management practices. J. Clean. Prod. 16, 1777–1785.
- Amador, F., Martinho, A.P., Bacelar-Nicolau, P., Caeiro, S., Oliveira, C.P., 2015. Education for sustainable development in higher education: evaluating coherence between theory and praxis. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 40 (6), 867–882.
- Amaral, L.P., Martins, N., Gouveia, J.B., 2015. Quest for a sustainable university: a review. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 16 (2), 155–172.
- Backes, M.T.S., Backes, D.S., Drago, L.C., Koerich, M.S., Erdmann, A.L., 2011. Cuidado ecológico como um fenômeno amplo e complexo. Rev. Bras. Enferm. 64 (5), 876–881.
- Barth, M., Godemann, J., Rieckmann, M., Stoltenberg, U., 2007. Developing key competencies for sustainable development in higher education. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 8 (4), 416–430. https://doi.org/10.1108/14676370710823582.
- Barth, M., Michelsen, G., 2013. Learning for change: an educational contribution to sustainability science. Sustain Sci. 8, 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-012-0181-5.
- Batterman, S.A., Martins, A.G., Antunes, C.H., Freire, F., Da Silva, M.G., 2011. Development and application of competencies for graduate programs in energy and sustainability. J. Prof. Issues Eng. Educ. Pract. 137 (4), 198–207.
- Beringer, A., Wright, T., Malone, L., 2008. Sustainability in higher education in Atlantic Canada. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 9 (1), 48–67.
- Brandli, L.L., Frandoloso, M.A.L., Fraga, K.T., Vieira, L.C., Pereira, L.A., 2012. Avaliação da presença da sustentabilidade ambiental no ensino dos cursos de graduação da Universidade de Passo Fundo. Avaliação 17 (2), 433–454.
- Brandli, L.L., Leal Filho, W., Frandoloso, M.A.L., Korf, E.P., Daris, D., 2015. The environmental sustainability of Brazilian universities: barriers and pre-conditions. In: Leal Filho, W., Azeiteiro, U.M., Caieiro, S., Alves, F. (Eds.), Integrating Sustainability Thinking in Science and Engineering Curricula. Springer, New York, pp. 63–74.
- Brinkhurst, M., Rose, P., Maurice, G., Ackerman, J.D., 2011. Achieving campus sustainability: top-down, bottom-up, or neither? Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 12 (4), 338–354.
- Brostolin, M.R., Cruz, S.F., 2010. Educação e sustentabilidade: o porvir dos povos indígenas no ensino superior em Mato Grosso do Sul. Interações 11 (1), 33–42.
- Burford, G., Hoover, E., Velasco, I., Janoušková, S., Jimenez, A., Piggot, G., Podger, D., Harder, M.K., 2013. Bringing the "missing pillar" into sustainable development goals: towards intersubjective values-based indicators. Sustainability 5, 3035–3059. https://doi.org/10.3390/su5073035.
- Bursztyn, M., Drummond, J., 2014. Sustainability science and the university: pitfalls and bridges to interdisciplinarity. Environ. Educ. Res. 20 (3), 313–332. https:// doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2013.780587.
- Caetano, N., Meira, A., Castanheira, L., Cardoso, M., Silva, A., Rocha, J., 2013. Conceiving modern engineers within the framework of the sustainability action plan (PASUS) of ISEP: sustainability matters. In: 1st International Conference of the Portuguese Society for Engineering Education (CISPEE), 6701971.
- Celeumans, K., Molderez, I., Van Liedekerke, L., 2015. Sustainability reporting in higher education: a comprehensive review of the recent literature and paths for further research. J. Clean. Prod. 106, 127–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jclepro.2014.09.052.
- Cerdeira, L., 2014. A internacionalização e cooperação no ensino superior: os países de língua portuguesa e o caso de Portugal. In: Cabrito, B., Castro, A., Cerdeira, L., Chaves, V.J. (Eds.), Os desafios da expansão da educação nos países de língua portuguesa: financiamento e internacionalização. EDUCA, Lisboa, pp. 97–114.
- Clugston, R.M., Calder, W., 1999. Critical dimensions of sustainability in higher education. In: Leal Filho, W. (Ed.). Sustainability and University Life, Peter Lang.
- Conceição, P., Ehrenfeld, J., Heitor, M., Vieira, P.S., 2006. Sustainable universities: fostering learning beyond environmental management systems. Int. J. Technol. Policy Manag. 6 (4), 413–440.
- COPERNICUS Alliance, 2015. European Network on Higher Education for Sustainable Development. Available online: (Retrieved 01.06.2015). http://www. copernicus-alliance.org.
- Correia, P.R.M., Xavier do Valle, B., Dazzani, M., Infante-Malachias, M.E., 2010. The importance of scientific literacy in fostering education for sustainability: theoretical considerations and preliminary findings from a Brazilian experience. J. Clean. Prod. 18, 678–685.
- Cortese, A.D., 2003. The critical role of higher education in creating a sustainable future. Plan. High. Educ. 31 (3), 15–22.
- CPLP, 1996. Declaração Constitutiva da Comunidade dos Países de Língua Portuguesa - CPLP. Available online (Retrieved 02.06.2015). http://www.cplp.org.
- Ćulum, B., 2014. Croatian academics and university civic mission integration: possibilities and constraints. In: Branković, J., Klemenčić, M., Lažetić, P., Zgaga, P. (Eds.), Global Challenges, Local Responses in Higher Education: the Contemporary Issues in National and Comparative Perspective. Sense Publishers, Rotterdam, pp. 59–78.
- Cunha, J.C., Montenegro, L.M., Rese, N., Crocetti, S., 2013. Formação profissional e prática sustentável. Rev. Eletrônica Ciência Adm. 12 (2), 71–84.
- De Castro, R., Jabbour, C.J.C., 2013. Evaluating sustainability of an Indian university.

J. Clean. Prod. 61, 54–58.

- De Goes, L.F., Leal, S.H., Corio, P., Fernandez, C., 2013. Aspectos do conhecimento pedagógico do conteúdo de química verde em professores universitários de química. Educ. Quím. 24 (1), 113–123.
- Disterheft, A., Caeiro, S.S., Ramos, M.R., Azeiteiro, U.M.M., 2012. Environmental Management Systems (EMS) implementation processes and practices in European higher education institutions - top-down versus participatory approaches. J. Clean. Prod. 31, 80–90.
- Disterheft, A., Caeiro, S., Azeiteiro, U.M., Leal Filho, W., 2015a. Sustainable universities - a study of critical success factors for participatory approaches. J. Clean. Prod. 106, 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.01.030.
- Disterheft, A., Azeiteiro, U.M., Leal Filho, W., Caeiro, S., 2015b. Participatory processes in sustainable universities – what to assess? Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 16 (5), 748–771.
- Ferreira, A.J.D., Lopes, M.A.R., Morais, J.P.F., 2006. Environmental management and audit schemes implementation as an educational tool for sustainability. J. Clean. Prod. 14, 973–982.
- Freire, P., 1987. Pedagogia do oprimido. Editora Paz e Terra, Rio de Janeiro.
- Freire, P., 2004. Pedagogia da autonomia. Editora Paz e Terra, Rio de Janeiro.
- Freitas, W.R.S., Julio, M.O., de Castro, R., Jabbour, C.J.C., 2012. "Casa de ferreiro, espeto é de pau": Gestão de recursos hídricos em duas organizações universitárias. Espacios 33 (5), 4.
- Godinho, C.M., Oliveira, T.M.P., Pinto, A., Silva, B.A., 2013. Desafios na implementação das ciências biotecnológicas na licenciatura em biologia da Universidade Nacional Timor Loro-Sa'e. In: Atas da 3a Conferência da FORGES -Política e gestão da Educação Superior nos Países e Regiões de Língua Portuguesa. Available online: http://aforges.org/conferencia3/05documentos.html (Retrieved 02.06.2015).
- Gonçalves, A., Gomes, C., 2004. Implementação de sistemas de gestão ambiental em instituições de ensino superior. In: o caso da Escola Superior Agrária de Bragança - Projecto EcoESAB. 8.a Conferência Nacional de Ambiente. Available online, Lisboa (Retrieved 01.04.2015). https://bibliotecadigital.ipb.pt/handle/ 10198/6476.
- Gonçalves-Dias, S.L.F., Herrera, C.B., Cruz, M.T.S., 2013. Desafios (e dilemas) para inserir "Sustentabilidade" nos currículos de administração: um estudo de caso. RAM, Rev. Adm. Mackenzie 14 (3), 119–153.
- González-Gaudiano, E., Silva-Rivera, E., 2015. Education: a road to nowhere or a path for a more sustainable Future? A southern perspective. In: Selby, D., Kagawa, F. (Eds.), Sustainability Frontiers: Critical and Transformative Voices from the Borderlands of Sustainability Education. Barbara Budrich Publishers, Toronto, pp. 43–57.
- González-Gaudiano, E., Meira-Cartea, P.A., Martínez-Fernández, C.N., 2015. Sustentabilidad y Universidad: retos, ritos y posibles rutas. Rev. Educ. Super. 3 (175), 69–93.
- Guerra, A.F.S., Figueiredo, M.L., 2014. Ambientalização curricular na Educação Superior: desafios e perspectivas. Educ. em Rev. 3, 109–126.
- Harris, L.C., Crane, A., 2002. The greening of organizational culture: management views on the depth, degree and diffusion change. J. Organ. Change Manag. 15 (3), 214–234.
- Isaias, P., Issa, T., 2013. E-learning and sustainability in higher education: an international case study. Int. J. Learn. High. Educ. 19 (4), 77–90.
- Jabbour, C.J.C., 2010. Greening of business schools: a systemic view. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 11 (1), 49–60.
- Jabbour, C.J.C., Sarkis, J., De Sousa Jabbour, A.B.L., Govindan, K., 2013. Understanding the process of greening of Brazilian business schools. J. Clean. Prod. 61, 25–35.
- Jacobi, P.R., Raufflet, E., Arruda, M.P., 2011. Educação para a sustentabilidade nos cursos de Administração: reflexão sobre paradigmas e práticas. RAM, Rev. Adm. MACKENZIE 12 (3), 21–50.
- Jain, S., Aggarwal, P., Sharma, N., Sharma, P., 2013. Fostering sustainability through education, research and practice: a case study of TERI University. J. Clean. Prod. 61, 20–24.
- Jiménez, M.E.S., 2009. Sustentabilidad a dos tiempos. Polis. Rev. Univ. Boliv. 8 (24), 357–382.
- Juárez-Nájera, M., Dieleman, H., Turpin-Marion, S., 2006. Sustainability in Mexican Higher Education: towards a new academic and professional culture. J. Clean. Prod. 14, 1028–1038.
- Karatzoglou, B., 2013. An in-depth literature review of the evolving roles and contributions of universities to education for sustainable development. J. Clean. Prod. 49, 44–53.
- Lanero, A., Luis Vázquez, J., Purificación García, M., Alves, H.M., 2013. The perception of sustainability in the university: implications for undergraduates' attitudes towards responsible consumption. Int. J. Sustain. Educ. 8 (1), 131–141.
- Lara, P.T.R., 2012. Sustentabilidade em instituições de ensino superior. Rev. Monogr. Ambient. 7 (7), 1646–1656.
- Leal Filho, W., 2010. Sustainability at Universities Opportunities, Challenges and Trends. Peter Lang Scientific Publishers, Frankfurt.
- Leme, P.C.S., Pavesi, A., Alba, D., González, M.J.D., 2012. Visões e experiências iberoamericanas de sustentabilidade nas universidades. USP-UAM, São Paulo-Madrid.
- Levy, B.L.M., Marans, R.W., 2012. Towards a campus culture of environmental sustainability. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 13 (4), 365–377.
- Læssøe, J., 2010. Education for sustainable development, participation and sociocultural change. Environ. Educ. Res. 16 (1), 39–57.
- Lima, G.F.C., 2009. Educação ambiental crítica: do socioambientalismo às sociedades sustentáveis. Educ. Pesqui. 35 (1), 145–163.

- Lima, L.C., 2005. Cidadania e educação: adaptação ao mercado competitivo ou participação a democratização da democracia? Educ. Soc. Cult. 23, 71–90.
- Lima, L.C., 2012. Patterns of institutional management: democratization, autonomy and the managerialist canon. In: Neave, G., Amaral, A. (Eds.), Higher Education in Portugal 1974-2009: a Nation, a Generation. CIPES/Springer, Porto, pp. 287–307.
- Lo, K., 2013. Campus sustainability in Chinese higher education institutions: focuses, motivations and challenges. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 16 (1), 34–43.
- Löbler, M.L., da Silva, B.G., Pozzobon, D.M., Gomes, C.M., 2012. Strategic orientation towards sustainable innovation: a case study in a Brazilian university. J. Technol. Manag. Innov. 7 (2), 196–205.
- Lópes, O.S., 2013. Creating a sustainable university and community through a Common Experience. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 14 (3), 291–309.
- Lotz-Sisitka, H., Lupele, J., Ogbuigwe, A., 2007. Translation processes in the design of an education for sustainable development innovations course for universities in Africa. J. Educ. Teach. Int. Res. Pedagogy 33 (2), 157–175.
- Loureiro, C.F.B., Layrargues, P.P., 2013. Ecologia política, justiça e educação ambiental crítica: perspectivas de aliança contra-hegemônica. Trab. Educ. Saúde 11 (1), 53–71.
- Lozano, R., 2006a. Incorporation and institutionalization of SD into universities: breaking through barriers to change. J. Clean. Prod. 14, 787–796.
- Lozano, R., 2006b. A tool for a graphical assessment of sustainability in universities (GASU). J. Clean. Prod. 14, 963–972.
- Lozano, R., 2011. The state of sustainability reporting in universities. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 12 (1), 67–78.
- Lozano, R., Celeumans, K., Alonso-Almeida, M., Huisingh, D., Lozano, F.J., Waas, T., Lambrechts, W., Lukman, R., Hugé, J., 2014. A review of commitment and implementation of sustainable development in higher education: results from a worldwide survey. J. Clean. Prod. 108, 1–18.
- Machado Júnior, C.S., da Silva, M.T.S., Nunes, W., Primolan, L.V., Parisotto, I.R.S., 2014. A produção de dissertações em administração sobre sustentabilidade nas regiões norte e centro-oeste. Gestão Reg. 30 (88), 19–33.
- Madeira, A.C., Carravilla, M.A., Oliveira, J.F., Costa, C.A.V., 2011. A methodology for sustainability evaluation and reporting in higher education institutions. High. Educ. Policy 24, 459–479.
- Marinho, M., Gonçalves, M.D.S., Kiperstok, A., 2014. Water conservation as a tool to support sustainable practices in a Brazilian public university. J. Clean. Prod. 62, 98–106.
- Marques, J.P.C., Caraça, J.M.G., Diz, H., 2010. Do business incubators function as a transfer technology mechanism from university to Industry? Evidence from Portugal. Open Bus. J. 3, 15–29.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., Fonseca, G.A.B., Kent, J., 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403, 853–858.
- Neiman, Z., Martins, M.R., 2009. A Questão da Qualidade na Formação dos Profissionais para o Turismo Sustentável. Cad. Virtual Tur. 9 (1), 128–147.
- Nogueira, M.D.P., 2013. O Fórum de Pró-reitores de Extensão das Universidades Públicas Brasileiras: um ator social em construção. Interfaces – Rev. Extensão 1 (1), 35–47.
- Novais, E.S., Sanchéz, M.M.A., 2013. Higher education in the ways of sustainability and institutional development in Angola. Rev. Congr. Univ. II (3), 1–12.
- Palma, L.C., Alves, N.B., Silva, T.N., 2013. Educação para a sustentabilidade: a construção de caminhos no Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Rio Grande do Sul (IFRS). RAM, Rev. Adm. MACKENZIE 14 (3), 83–118.
- Palma, L.C., de Oliveira, L.M., Viacava, K.R., 2011. Sustainability in Brazilian federal universities. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 12 (3), 250–258.
- Palma, L.C., Pedrozo, E.A., 2015. Complex matrix for the analysis of sustainable transformative learning: an assessment methodology of sustainability integration in universities. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 40 (6), 817–832.
- Pereira, G.S.M., Jabbour, C., de Oliveira, S.V.W.B., Teixeira, A.A., 2014. Greening the campus of a Brazilian university: cultural challenges. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 15 (1), 34–47.
- Ramos, T.B., Montaño, M., Melo, J.J., Souza, M.P., Lemos, C.C., Domingues, A.R., Polido, A., 2015. Strategic environmental assessment in higher education: Portuguese and Brazilian cases. J. Clean. Prod. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jclepro.2014.12.088.
- Rauhvargers, A., 2011. Global University Rankings and Their Impact: EUA Report on Rankings 2011. European University Association ASBL.
- Ruscheinsky, A., Guerra, A.F.S., Figueiredo, M.L., Leme, P.C.S., Ranieri, V.E.L., Delitti, W.B.C., 2014. Ambientalização nas Instituições de Educação Superior no Brasil: caminhos trilhados, desafios e possibilidades. EESC/USP, São Carlos.
- Sáenz, O., 2014. National forums on university and sustainability in Latin America and the Caribbean. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Environmental Education and Sustainability "The Best of Both Worlds". University of São Paulo and Social Service of the Commerce, São Paulo, pp. 105–122.
- Santos, B.S., 2015. Da universidade à pluriversidade: reflexões sobre o presente e o futuro do ensino superior. Rev. Lusófona Educ. 31, 201–212.
- Santos, B.S., Almeida Filho, N., 2008. A universidade do século XXI: para uma universidade nova, Almedina, Coimbra.
- Segalàs, J., Mulder, K.F., Ferrer-Balas, D., 2012. What do EESD "experts" think sustainability is? Which pedagogy is suitable to learn it? Results from interviews and Cmaps analysis gathered at EESD 2008. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 13 (3), 293–304.
- Segreda, A.M., 2002. Sustainability and peace in Costa Rica: the case of University of Costa Rica. High. Educ. Policy 15, 169–176.

- Shiel, C., Leal Filho, W., Paço, A., Brandli, L., 2016. Evaluating the engagement of universities in capacity building for sustainable development in local communities. Eval. Program Plan. 54, 123–134.
- Silva, A.D.V., Marcomin, F.E., 2007. A universidade sustentável: alguns elementos para a ambientalização do ensino superior a partir da realidade brasileira. In: I Congreso Internacional de Educación Ambiental dos Países Lusófonos e Galicia. Available online: http://www.ceida.org/CD_CONGRESO_lus/ documentacion_ea/comunicacions/EA_e_Universidade/

DiasVieiradaSilvaAlberto_MarcomimElizabeti.html (Retrieved 01.04.2015).

- Silva, H.H.M., Campanario, M.A., Souza, M.T.S., 2013. O isomorfismo na educação ambiental como tema transversal em Programas de graduação em administração. Rev. Ciências Adm. 15 (37), 170–186.
- Sinay, M.C.F., Dalbem, M.C., Loureiro, I.A., Vieira, J.M., 2013. Ensino e pesquisa em gestão ambiental nos programas brasileiros de pós-graduação em administração. RAM, Rev. Adm. Mackenzie 14 (3), 55–82.
- Soares, A.M.D., Oliveira, L.M.T., Estolano, L.C.C., Cavalcante, D.K., Pimentel, S.S., 2008. Formação universitária e desafios contemporâneos: que ambiente queremos construir e em que sustentabilidade podemos apostar?. In: 1 Congreso Internacional de Educación Ambiental dos Países Lusófonos e Galicia Available online: http://www.ceida.org/CD_CONGRESO_lus/documentacion_ea/ comunicacions/EA_e_Universidade/DantasSoares_AnaMaria.html (Retrieved 01.04.2015).
- Soares, N., Pereira, L.D., Ferreira, J., Conceição, P., da Silva, P.P., 2015. Energy efficiency of higher education buildings: a case study. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 16 (5), 669–691.
- Sorrentino, M., 2014. The best of both worlds: people committed to the socioenvironmental changes - a Latin America perspective on environmental education. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Environmental Education and Sustainability "The Best of Both Worlds". University of São Paulo and Social Service of the Commerce, São Paulo, pp. 58–66.
- Souza, M.T.S., Machado Júnior, C., Parisotto, I.R.S., Silva, H.H.M., 2013. Estudo bibliométrico de teses e dissertações em administração na dimensão ambiental da

sustentabilidade. Read. Rev. Eletrôn. Adm. 19 (3), 541-568.

- Tauchen, J., Brandli, L.L., 2006. A gestão ambiental em instituições de ensino superior: modelo para implantação em campus universitário. Gestão Produção 13 (3), 503–515.
- Trajber, R., Sato, M., 2010. Escolas sustentáveis: incubadoras de transformações nas comunidades. Rev. Eletrônica Mestr. Educ. Ambient. (special issue), 70–78.
- UNESCO, 1999. Cooperative Peace in Southeast Asia. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Jakarta.
- Varela, B.L., 2013. Tendências internacionais e política do ensino superior em Cabo Verde. In: Atas da 3a Conferência da FORGES - Política e gestão da Educação Superior nos países e regiões de língua portuguesa. Available online: http:// aforges.org/conferencia3/05documentos.html (Retrieved 01.05.2015).
- Verbitskaya, LA., Nosova, N.B., Rodina, L.L., 2002. Sustainable development in higher education in Russia: the case of St. Petersburg State University. High. Edu. Policy 15, 177–185.
- Wals, A.E.J., 2014. Sustainability in higher education in the context of the UN DESD: a review of learning and institutionalization processes. J. Clean. Prod. 62, 8–15.
- Webster, J., Watson, R.T., 2002. Analyzing the past to prepare for the future: writing a literature review. MIS Quart. 26 (2), 13–23.
- Wright, T., Horst, N., 2013. Exploring the ambiguity: what faculty leaders really think of sustainability in higher education. Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ. 14 (2), 209–227.
- Zanoni, M., Raynaut, C., Mendonça, F., 2005. Une expérience de formation interdisciplinaire aux recherches sur le développement durable: La chaire Unesco de l'Université fédérale du Paraná (Curitiba, Brésil). Natures Sci. Sociétés 13, 198–205.
- Zottis, G.A.H., Cunha, L.L., Krebs, L.F., Algeri, S., Flores, R.Z., 2008. Violência e desenvolvimento sustentável: O papel da universidade. Saúde Soc. 17 (3), 33–41.
- Zuin, V.G., Pacca, J.L.A., 2013. Formación docente en química y ambientación curricular: Estudio de caso en una institución de enseñanza superior Brasileña. Ensenanza las Ciencias 31 (1), 79–93.